IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

JUSTIN BLOUNT; AND STEPHANIE BLOUNT		Electronically Filed Jun 09 2021 03:41 p.m
	Appellants,	Supreme Court Note 12 Supreme Court
) District Court Case No.: D605933
v.)
Paula Blount,))
	Respondent.) _)

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

KURT R. BONDS, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 6228
TREVOR R. WAITE, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 13779
DANIEL A. MANN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 15594
ALVERSON, TAYLOR & SANDERS
6605 Grand Montecito Parkway, Suite 200
Las Vegas, NV 89149
(702) 384-7000

Attorneys for Appellant Justin Blount and Stephanie Blount

JURISDICTION

This is an appeal from a District Court Order, dated December 10, 2020, which granted the registration of the foreign custody order from the Tribal Courts of the Hualapai Tribe. Appellants filed their Notices of Appeal with this Court on November 9th and 13th, 2020.

This Court has jurisdiction based on NRS 703.376. NRS 703.376 provides a basis for appeal from the order since this is a civil case in district court order from the state of Nevada and under NRS Const. Art. 6, § 4, The Supreme Court and court of appeals have appellate jurisdiction in all civil cases arising in district courts.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Appellants in good faith reasonably believe the following to be the issues on appeal:

- 1. Did the District Court err when it gave full faith and credit to the registered foreign custody order, dated January 30, 2020, from the Hualapai Tribal.

 Court because the Tribal court already had modified the custody order on May 13, 2020?
- 2. Did the District Court err when it gave full faith and credit to the registered foreign custody order because Justin and Stephanie Blount were not properly given notice of the proceedings on custody of Jeremiah and Kaydi Blount in the Hualapai Tribal Court?
- 3. Did the District Court err when it gave full faith and credit to the registered foreign custody order from the Hualapai Tribal Court because the Tribal court did not have UCCJEA jurisdiction nor Tribal jurisdiction since the Tribe vacated its temporary custody order, refused to intervene in an adoption proceeding in Nevada for the minor children, and the children's home state is Nevada?

STANDARD FOR REVIEW

The Supreme Court reviews the district court's evidentiary decisions and custody determinations for an abuse of discretion. Castle v. Simmons, 120 Nev. 98, 101, 86 P.3d 1042, 1045 (2004) (noting we review custody determinations for an abuse of discretion). An abuse of discretion can occur when the district court bases its decision on a clearly erroneous factual determination or it disregards controlling law. NOLM, LLC v. Cty. of Clark, 120 Nev. 736, 739, 100 P.3d 658, 660–61 (2004) (holding that relying on factual findings that are "clearly erroneous or not supported by substantial evidence" can be an abuse of discretion (internal quotations omitted)); Bergmann v. Boyce, 109 Nev. 670, 674, 856 P.2d 560, 563 (1993) (holding that a decision made "in clear disregard of the guiding legal principles [can be] an abuse of discretion").

Here, the standard has been met since District Court abused its discretion by ignoring the facts that established that the Custody has been modified, the Appellants did not receive notice to the January 30, 2020 custody proceeding, or the Hualapai Tribe not having jurisdiction, as well as disregarding the controlling law for when to confirm registrations of foreign custody orders.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action involves Justin, ("Father"), and Stephanie Blount's appeal of the District Court's order, dated December 10, 2020, that gave full faith and credit to the registered foreign custody order, ordered on January 30, 2020 from the Tribal Court of Hualapai Tribe, Peach Springs, State of Arizona. The motion to register the foreign custody order in Nevada District Court was filed on March 18, 2020. This action was from Paula Blount ("Grandmother") to obtain joint custody over the minor children, Jeremiah and Kaydi Blount. Justin Blount opposed the registration on April 20, 2020, alleging that the Tribe did not have jurisdiction and did not provide him notice for the January 30, 2020 proceeding on the custody of Jeremiah and Kaydi Blount. Stephanie Blount opposed in her own way by filing a "Motion to Invalidate" on August 10, 2020, which asserted the registered foreign custody order has already been modified by the Tribal Court of the Hualapai Tribe on May 13, 2020, to give the Grandmother and the maternal Grandparents joint custody of the children; that Stephanie Blount was an essential party to the custody proceeding of her adoptive children and was never given notice of the custody proceeding in the Hualapai Tribal Court; and that the Hualapai Tribe did not have jurisdiction to make the custody order.

On November 2, 2020, the District Court decided without a hearing that Justin Blount's opposition noted several defects about the tribal proceedings,

however, "those defects are not for this court to weigh in on and the father may consider appealing the Court's decision."

Justin Blount filed his notice of appeal on November 9, 2020 and Stephanie filed her notice of appeal on November 13, 2020. The premature notices of appeal are considered filed on the date of and after entry of the order, which was December 10, 2020. Nev. R. App. P. 4(6).

On November 10, 2020, a Motion to Stay Order Pending Appeal was filed by Justin Blount. That Motion was heard on January 12, 2021, and the District Court denied the motion.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case has an intricate and somewhat confusing history as it necessarily deals with three (3) separate but intertwined cases being dealt with in the Tribal Court in Arizona and two (2) departments of the Eighth Judicial District Courts (and the resulting appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court in one of those cases). In an attempt to untangle the history of how we got here and bring the Court up to speed, Appellants will break from traditional narrative style writing and simply provide the Court with a single timeline of the history of the three cases to help the Court understand when certain events occurred and when certain Court and Tribal orders were issued. The history is as follows:

From February 2016 to July 2017 the Tribe helped mother, Gretchen, hide

the Minor Children from Justin Blount, ("Father"), despite Tribal Court orders granting Father's visitation. When the issue was brought up, the Tribal Court threatened to take additional rights away from Father. In July 2017, Father threatened to get the Federal authorities involved for the kidnapping of the Minor Children. In response, the Tribe issued Temporary Custody Orders with a visitation schedule. On December 27, 2017, Gretchen Whatoname passed away. Two days later, Grandmother knowing of Gretchen's Death handed kids over to Whatoname Family in an attempt to hide children on the Hualapai reservation. The next day, Justin and Stephanie Blount searched for the Minor Children with the aid of tribal police, Nevada police, and Arizona police while Petitioner, Whatoname family, and other relatives hid the Minor Children. On December 29, 2017, Tribal Court denied the Motion for Immediate Temporary Custody (to Whatoname) and Order to restore custody of children to Father. Tribe Case 2017-CC-013. That same day, the children were found on the reservation by police. Whatoname family refused to release children to Father. Finally on December 30, 2017, the Minor Children were turned over to their Father with aid of Arizona Police. On January 24, 2018, the Tribal Court Ordered to Vacate Temporary Custody Order and Child Support Order. See Exhibit A attached hereto and incorporated herein. Tribe Case 2016-DOM-001.

Several months later, on May 18, 2018, Grandmother files Petition for Grandparent Visitation in Nevada court. See Exhibit B, District Court Case D-18-571209-O, Dept B. On June 12, 2018, Grandmother filed a Motion for Temporary Orders (Grandparent Visitation) in Nevada District Court. See Exhibit C, District Case D-18-571209-O, Dept B. On August 15, 2018, Nevada District Court denied Grandparent visitation and awarding attorney fees. See Exhibit D, District Case D-18-571209-O, Dept B.

On August 24, 2018, Grandmother filed a Notice of Appeal as to the District Court's Order dismissing the grandparent visitation petition and award of attorney fees. See Exhibit F, District Case D-18-571209-O, Dept B.

On January 3, 2019, Stephanie Blount filed a petition to adopt the minor children. District Court Case D-19-582179-A, Dept B; Petitioners Justin and Stephanie Blount, Re: Adoption Kaydi and Jeremiah Blount. On January 7, 2019, a ICWA notice of adoption was served/received by Tribe. See Exhibit G. On January 11, 2019, Gretna and Wilfred Petitioned the Tribal court to intervene in the adoption and the Tribe refused to do so, indicating that it did not have the needed jurisdiction to intervene. See Exhibit H, Tribe Case 2019-CV-001.

On January 29, 2019, the adoption hearing took place. District Case D-19-582179-A. Court Continued Hearing for Adoption to permit Tribe to file formal objection to the matter as requested pursuant to ICWA. Whatoname family

objected. Judge informed them that they had no right to object as they had not been granted rights by a court. Judge Marquise informed all present that she would give Whatanome's a chance to file for rights. On February 20, 2019, the Hualapai Tribe filed a Motion to Intervene in the NV Adoption through Sonia Martinez, Esq., who was not licensed in Nevada. District Case D-19-582179-A. On February 25, 2019, the Father filed an Opposition to the Hualapai Tribe's Motion to Intervene (NV Adoption). District Case D-19-582179-A. On February 26, 2019, a Minute Order (NV Adoption) set the intervention motion and opposition for oral argument. See Exhibit I, District Case D-19-582179-A. Judge: Marquis; Courtroom 07; Setting hearing date for oral arguments. That same day, a Delinquency Petition was filed in Hualapai Juvenile Court. Case 2019-CC-004, Tribe v Jeremiah Blount and a 3rd Party Petition for Temporary Child Custody Due to Neglect. The court notes the Adoption case in NV and that it is open. Gretna Asks the Tribal court to take Jurisdiction and to act as the Tribal attorney and ICWA Coordinator Claimed they could take jurisdiction of Adoption due to ICWA. The next day, Tribe issues a Temporary Custody order to Whatoname grandparents. Case 2019-CC-004.

On March 25, 2019, Grandmother files a motion to stay appeal. District Case D-18-571209-O. In the Motion, Grandmother asks the Nevada Supreme Court to stay the Appeal due to the temporary custody order the Tribal Court issued on February 27, 2019.

It was not until April 11, 2019, that the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order denying Grandmother's motion to stay the appeal.

On April 17, 2019, a Hearing was held in District Court in the Nevada adoption proceeding and the Court issues a Minute Order related thereto on May 3, 2019. District Case D-19-582179-A, Judge: Hughes. At the hearing, the Tribes ICWA coordinator requested to withdraw the Tribe's motion to intervene based on Father's Opposition. Idella Keluche, the Tribes ICWA coordinator, conceded on the record that Father's Opposition had merit and ICWA did not apply to the adoption proceedings. The Tribe nonetheless maintained a (verbal) objection to the adoption based on "legal proceedings" in occurring in the Tribal Court. The Court ordered the Tribe (through appropriately licensed counsel) to file a brief specifically setting out "what has occurred in the Tribal Court proceedings, what legal action has taken place, and why the Tribe believes it has jurisdiction to enter the custody Orders it had recently entered [regarding the February 27, 2019 Temporary Custody Order]." The hearing for Adoption was thereafter continued to allow the Tribe sufficient time to file the brief. See Exhibit J. A few days later on April 19, 2019, the Tribe filed a Notice of Withdraw of the Tribe's motion to intervene in the adoption and motion to Recognize Tribal Court Order from Tribal Case 2019-CC-004. District Case D-19-582179-A. Specifically, the Motion states, "Upon further reflection of practical and legal issues, the tribe withdraws its

motion to intervene and the motion to recognize the tribal court order. Any and all filings, including this motion, have been filed through the nation's designated ICWA representative under federal ICWA law only." See Exhibit K.

On May 8, 2019, the Tribe held a hearing at which Father's counsel (Trevor Waite, Esq., and David Sexton Esq.,) made a special appearance to dispute the Tribe's jurisdiction to issue Child Custody Orders. Case 2019-CC-004. On May 14, 2019, a Letter was sent to Tribal Court from Trevor Waite, Esq., indicating Father terminated Alverson Taylor & Sanders representation with all matters before the Tribe and indicated that Alverson Taylor & Sanders was no longer authorized to proceed with any representation of father in the Tribal Court or to accept service on Father's behalf with any matters before the Tribal Court. See **Exhibit L.** On May 28, 2019, a Hearing was held in Tribal Court for Grandparent Custody (re: Gretna and Wilfred Whatoname) and the resulting minute order still listed Father as being represented despite having notice Father was not represented as evidenced by the May 14, 2019 letter from Father's prior counsel (Exhibit L). See Exhibit M, Case 2019-CC-004.

On June 12, 2019, the District Court in the Nevada adoption proceeding issued a Minute Order related Tribe's failure to file the brief regarding jurisdiction as the Court ordered at the April 17, 2019 hearing. *See* Exhibit N. District Case D-19-582179-A. On July 3, 2019, the Adoption Hearing was held and a Decree of

Adoption ("Adoption Decree") was issued by the District Court. See Exhibit O, District Case D-19-582179-A.

On September 16, 2019, the Nevada Supreme Court issued an Order of Affirmance of District Court order denying Grandmother's petition for grandparent visitation. Then on December 9, 2019, Grandmother filed a petition for Grandparent Visitation with the Tribe under Case 2019-CC-004, wherein Grandmother asked the Tribe for joint custody disguised as visitation. See Exhibit P. A notice of hearing for the Grandparent Visitation in Hualapai Court was issued and emailed to Trevor Waite, Esq. Ridiculously, the Notice of Hearing was captioned as "Waite, Trevor [Plaintiff] vs. Blount, Justin and Whatoname, Gretchen [defendants]." See Exhibit Q. Also, the Notice indicated that it was emailed on December 30, 2019 but signed by the clerk of the court on the 26th of February, 2019. Id. Interestingly, the notice indicates it was only emailed to Trevor Waite, Esq., and not also to Father despite the Tribal Court having notice that Trevor Waite, Esq., was no longer counsel of record for Father and not authorized to accept service for Father in any matter before the Tribal Court. Id. See also, Exhibit L.

The Hearing in Tribal Court on Grandmother's Motion for Grandparent Visitation took place on January 30, 2020 and resulted in the granting the motion by default. While the Minute order shows no counsel of record for Father, the

Order issued from the Tribal Court again incorrectly indicates that Father was represented by Trevor Waite, Esq. See Exhibit R. There is no indication in the order or Minute Order that either the Court or Grandmother served Father with the Motion or Notice of the hearing. Id. Ironically, the Tribal Court notes "that there were errors in the Notice, specifically the caption is mistakenly captioned as 'Waite, Trevor v. Blount, Justin/Whatanome, Gretchen' and the date on the Notice is listed as February 26, 2019." Id. Tribe Case 2019-CC-004.

Then on March 9, 2020, a Motion to Amend Custody Order was filed in the Tribal Court to give Grandmother shared custody, NOT just visitation, of the Minor Children. See Exhibit S.

on March 18, 2020, Grandmother filed a motion to register the custody order from the Hualapai tribe ordered on January 30, 2020.

On April 6, 2020 is when Father reached out to Alverson Taylor & Sanders regarding Grandmother's attempt to register the foreign custody orders and Father's newly retained counsel accepts service of the Registration and Notice for Registration of Foreign Custody Order. See Exhibit T.

Then on May 13, 2020, the Tribal Court granted to Amend Custody Order by default and includes Grandmother in the amended petition with shared custody between maternal grandparents. See Exhibit U.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

First, the District Court erred when it gave full faith and credit to the registered foreign custody order, dated January 30, 2020, from the Hualapai Tribal Court, because the Tribal court already had modified the custody order on May 13, 2020. In Stephanie Blount's Motion to Invalidate, she asserted the argument and provided evidence that Case No. 2019-CC-004 in the Hualapai Tribal Court was modified on May 13, 2020, to include Grandmother and maternal grandparents to have joint custody over the minor children. Case No: 2019-CC-004 is the same case the foreign custody order dated January 30, 2020 that was registered in the State of Nevada on March 18, 2020. District Court abused its discretion by failure to apply the statute that requires the denial of confirmation of a registered foreign custody order if the person contesting the registration establishes the child custody sought to be registered has been modified by a court having jurisdiction.

Second, the District Court further erred when it gave full faith and credit to the registered foreign custody order because the Appellants, persons who are entitled to notice, were not properly given notice of the proceedings on custody of Jeremiah and Kaydi Blount in the Hualapai Tribal Court. The Appellants are the legal parents of the minor children. Furthermore, they had physical custody and their parental rights were never terminated at the time the January 30, 2020 custody hearing took place. District Court abused its discretion by failure to apply

the statue that requires entitled persons of notice need to be served notice of the hearing the foreign custody order came from in order for the custody order to be confirmed as a registered foreign custody order.

Alternatively, the District Court erred when it decided that the Tribal Courts of the Hualapai Tribe had jurisdiction to do a custody proceeding over the minor children, the Tribal Court vacated its temporary custody order between Justin Blount and birth mother of the minor children on January 24, 2018, resulting as if it never happened. When Stephanie Blount was adopting the children to be their legal mother, the tribe refused to intervene in the adoption proceeding. This act is evidence that the tribal court had made a determination that the children, and the parents did not have any significant connection with the reservation and evidence concerning the minor children's custody determination is not available in the Hualapai Tribe. The adoption proceeding is also evidence that Nevada has made a determination that the minor children and both parents do not reside in the Hualaipai reservation. This means the continued and exclusive jurisdiction over the minor children that was found by the Supreme Court of Nevada to the Hualapai tribe in case D-18-571209-O, is lost. With no exclusive, continuing jurisdiction and the minor children, Appellants, and Grandmother do not reside in the Hualapai Tribe's reservation for over six months and no ties to the reservation, the Hualapai Tribe does not have jurisdiction to make an initial determination. District Court abused its discretion by ignoring the facts and determining the Hualapai Tribe had jurisdiction to enter custody orders.

ARGUMENT

A. THE FOREIGN CUSTODY ORDER WAS WRONGFULLY REGISTERED BECAUSE IT IS NOT THE MOST RECENT CUSTODY ORDER FROM THE HUALAPAI TRIBAL COURT.

The District Court is required to deny the registered order if the person contesting the registration establishes the child custody determination sought to be registered has been vacated, stayed or modified by a court having jurisdiction. NRS 125A.465(6)(b).

In the Supplemental Exhibits to Parents Motion to Invalidate, Exhibit I shows orders, dated May 13, 2020, from the Hualapai Tribal Court modifying the custody order ordered on January 30, 2020.

The opposition from Justin Blount was filed before the modification took place, but Stephanie Blount's opposition that was labeled "motion to invalidate" was filed after the modification took place and provided the District Court the evidence that establishes the January 30, 2020 custody order has been modified by the Hualapai Tribal Court.

The District Court disregarded this evidence and NRS 125A.465(6)(b) by confirming the registration of the foreign custody order of the Hualapai Tribal Court Dated January 30, 2020. This is clearly an abuse of discretion since statute

only allows the court to "confirm unless the person contesting registration establishes that ... the child custody determination sought to be registered has been ... modified by a court having jurisdiction." NRS 125A.465(6)(b). Therefore, District erred when it gave full faith and credit to the registered foreign custody order, dated January 30, 2020, from the Hualapai Tribal Court because the Tribal court already had modified the custody order on May 13, 2020.

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