IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

* * * * *

JUSTIN CRAIG BLOUNT; AND
STEPHANIE BLOUNT,

Appellants,

vs.

PAULA BLOUNT,

Respondent.

S.C. NO.

D.C. NO:

Electronically Filed
Sep 07 2021 02:39 p.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court
D-20-605933-F

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Attorney for Respondent:

Marshal S. Willick, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 2515
WILICK LAW GROUP
3591 East Bonanza Road, Ste 200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89110-2101
(702) 438-4100
Email: email@willicklawgroup.com

Attorneys for Appellants:

Daniel A. Mann, Esq.
Nevada Bar No. 15594
Alverson, Taylor & Sanders
6605 Grand Montecito Parkway, #200
Las Vegas, Nevada 89149
(702) 384-7000

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Appellant incorrectly identifies (AOB at 2) the standard of review on this question of full faith and credit as “abuse of discretion.” We will gladly accept review under that offered standard, although, actually, alleged errors of law are reviewed *de novo*,⁶¹ as are questions of constitutional or statutory construction.⁶²

Under either standard, the family court made no error and the district court’s *Minute Order* issued on November 2, 2020, repeated in the *Order* filed December 10, should be affirmed.

⁶¹ *Moseley v. Dist. Ct.*, 124 Nev. 654, 188 P.3d 1136 (2008); *Settelmeyer & Sons v. Smith & Harmer*, 124 Nev. 1206, 197 P.3d 1051 (2008).

⁶² *See Irving v. Irving*, 122 Nev. 494, 134 P.3d 718 (2006); *Carson City District Attorney v. Ryder*, 116 Nev. 502, 998 P.2d 1186 (2000).

II. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court did not err when it gave full faith and credit to the *Minute Order* filed May 28, 2019, and the *Grandparent Custody and Visitation Order* filed January 30, 2020, entered in the Tribal Courts of the Hualapai Tribe, Peach Springs, State of Arizona, Case No. 2019-CC-004, which were registered with the Nevada district court on March 18, 2020.

NRS 125A.465 provides, in relevant part, that a child custody determination issued by a court of another state⁶³ may be registered in the State of Nevada. The person seeking registration of a child custody determination from another state is required to provide notice of that registration upon “any parent or person acting as a

⁶³ Per NRS 125A.215(2), “A court of this state shall treat a tribe as if it were a state of the United States.”

parent who has been awarded custody or visitation in the child custody determination sought to be registered.”⁶⁴

A hearing to contest the validity of a registered determination “must be requested within 20 days after service of notice.” In the event a timely (within 20 days of service) request for a hearing is not made, “*the registration is confirmed as a matter of law.*”⁶⁵

Here, Justin first filed an *Opposition* to Paula’s *Registration* **24** days after service, and first requested a hearing **102** days after service. Both were untimely. He never appealed the underlying order in the place in which it was entered (Arizona), although he was noticed of the hearing and resulting order there, and advised by the Nevada family court judge to appeal it in Arizona if he thought he had grounds to do

⁶⁴ See NRS 125A.465(1)(c) and 125A.465(4).

⁶⁵ See NRS 125A.465(7). [Emphasis added].

so. Those facts alone dictate the result of this appeal as a matter of statute; the registration must be confirmed by Nevada as a matter of full faith and credit.

Even if Justin or Stephanie had made a timely objection and request for hearing contesting the validity of the registration, the record reflects that the Hualapai Tribal Court maintained continuing, exclusive jurisdiction to render orders relating to the care and custody of the minor children under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act (“UCCJEA”). No evidence was ever supplied anywhere that it ever relinquished jurisdiction and it is intellectually dishonest for Justin (or Stephanie) to suggest otherwise.

That intellectual dishonesty is highlighted by the representations made by Justin in this Court in Case No. 76831, where he asserted that the Nevada courts lacked subject matter jurisdiction to do *anything* relating to these children because the Tribal Court was the *only* court capable of making determinations regarding their care and

custody. Indeed, Justin correctly acknowledged for years after the children left Arizona that the Tribal Court maintained continuing, exclusive jurisdiction.

Justin and Stephanie's reference to a purported *Decree of Adoption* that was surreptitiously requested by them, never noticed, and entered *after* one of the registered orders was entered in the Tribal Court granting the maternal grandparents custody of the minor children is a red herring with no bearing on the district court's registration of orders from the Hualapai Tribal Court, for several reasons. Those reasons include that an adoption has no effect on continuing exclusive jurisdiction under the UCCJEA because adoptions are excluded from the UCCJEA.⁶⁶

There is neither a legal or factual basis for Justin and Stephanie's appeal and the district court's *Order* filed December 10, 2020, should be affirmed.

⁶⁶ NRS 125A.205 "Proceedings governed by other law. The provisions of this chapter do not govern an adoption proceeding or a proceeding pertaining to the authorization of emergency medical care for a child."

III. JUSTIN FAILED TO TIMELY CONTEST THE REGISTRATION OF THE TRIBAL COURT ORDERS

NRS 125A.465 provides, in relevant part:

1. A child custody determination issued by a court of another state may be registered in this state, with or without a simultaneous request for enforcement, by sending to a court of this state which is competent to hear custody matters:

- (a) A letter or other document requesting registration;
- (b) Two copies, including one certified copy, of the determination sought to be registered, and a statement under penalty of perjury that to the best of the knowledge and belief of the person seeking registration the order has not been modified; and
- (c) Except as otherwise provided in NRS 125A.385, the name and address of the person seeking registration and any parent or person acting as a parent who has been awarded custody or visitation in the child custody determination sought to be registered.

2. On receipt of the documents required by subsection 1, the registering court shall cause the determination to be filed as a foreign judgment, together with one copy of any accompanying documents and information, regardless of their form.

3. The registering court shall provide the persons named pursuant to paragraph (c) of subsection 1 with an opportunity to contest the registration in accordance with this section.

4. The person seeking registration of a child custody determination pursuant to subsection 1 shall serve notice, by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, upon each parent or person who has been awarded custody or visitation identified pursuant to paragraph (c) of subsection 1.

5. The notice required by subsection 4 must state that:

(a) A registered determination is enforceable as of the date of the registration in the same manner as a determination issued by a court of this state;

(b) A hearing to contest the validity of the registered determination must be requested within 20 days after service of notice; and

(c) Failure to contest the registration will result in confirmation of the child custody determination and preclude further contest of that determination with respect to any matter that could have been asserted.

6. ***A person seeking to contest the validity of a registered order must request a hearing within 20 days after service of the notice.*** At that hearing, the court shall confirm the registered order unless the person contesting registration establishes that:

(a) The issuing court did not have jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 125A.305 to 125A.395, inclusive;

- (b) The child custody determination sought to be registered has been vacated, stayed or modified by a court having jurisdiction to do so pursuant to NRS 125A.305 to 125A.395, inclusive; or
- (c) The person contesting registration was entitled to notice, but notice was not given in accordance with the standards of NRS 125A.255, in the proceedings before the court that issued the order for which registration is sought.

7. If a timely request for a hearing to contest the validity of the registration is not made, the registration is confirmed as a matter of law and the person requesting registration and all persons served must be notified of the confirmation.

8. Confirmation of a registered order, whether by operation of law or after notice and hearing, precludes further contest of the order with respect to any matter that could have been asserted at the time of registration.

[Emphasis added].

The law is clear that a person seeking to contest the registration of a foreign custody order ***must*** request a hearing within 20 days after service of the notice.⁶⁷ If the

⁶⁷ Generally, when a statute's language is plain and its meaning clear, the court will apply that plain language. *International Game Tech. v. Dist. Ct.*, 122 Nev. 132, 152, 127 P.3d 1088, 1102 (2006); *also see Leven v. Frey*, 123 Nev. 399, 403, 168 P.3d 712, 717 (2007).

person seeking to contest fails to do so within the time frame allotted, the registered orders are confirmed by operation of law.

Justin, through counsel, accepted service of Paula's *Registration* on April 6, 2020. Justin filed an *Opposition* to Paula's *Registration* on April 30, 2020 – 24 days after service of the *Notice of Registration*. He did not request a hearing seeking to contest the registration until July 17, 2020 – more than three months after he was served. Accordingly, the Registration had to be affirmed as a matter of law, and was.

To the extent Justin claims that *Stephanie*, who has never been joined as a party to this case, was entitled to notice of the registration, the relevant statute makes clear that the only people to whom notice is required are “any parent or person acting as a parent who has been awarded custody or visitation *in the child custody determination*

sought to be registered.”⁶⁸ Stephanie was not awarded custody or visitation pursuant to any Tribal Court order; she has never been a party to any case in the Tribal Court.

IV. THE TRIBAL COURT ORDERS WERE NOT “WRONGFULLY REGISTERED”

Ariz. Rev. Stat. 25-1032 is identical to NRS 125.315 and states, in relevant part:

A. Except as otherwise provided in section 25-1034, a court of this state that has made a child custody determination consistent with section 25-1031 or 25-1033 has exclusive, continuing jurisdiction over the determination until either of the following is true:

1. A court of this state determines that neither the child, nor the child and one parent, nor the child and a person acting as a parent have a significant connection with this state and that substantial evidence is no longer available in this state concerning the child’s care, protection, training and personal relationships.

2. A court of this state or a court of another state determines that the child, the child’s parents and any person acting as a parent do not presently reside in this state.

⁶⁸ See NRS 125A.465(1)(c).

NRS 125A.325 further provides:

Except as otherwise provided in NRS 125A.335, a court of this state ***may not*** modify a child custody determination made by a court of another state unless a court of this state has jurisdiction to make an initial determination pursuant to paragraph (a) or (b) of subsection 1 of NRS 125A.305 ***and***:

1. The court of the other state determines it no longer has exclusive, continuing jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 125A.315 or that a court of this state would be a more convenient forum pursuant to NRS 125A.365; or

2. A court of this state or a court of the other state determines that the child, the child's parents and any person acting as a parent do not presently reside in the other state.

[Emphasis added].

The UCCJEA forms the exclusive basis for determining jurisdiction of interstate child custody disputes. Continuing, exclusive jurisdiction from the initial issuing court ***only*** ceases when “a court of this state or a court of another state determines that the child, the child's parents and any person acting as a parent do not presently reside in

this state.”⁶⁹ Usually, such a finding follows either a stipulation or evidentiary proceedings.

No court anywhere has ever found that the child, the child’s parents and any person acting as a parent do not presently reside in the issuing state (Arizona). No such findings have ever been made by the Tribal Court. The undisputed record indicates the exact opposite: the Tribal Court has clearly indicated that it has ***not*** relinquished jurisdiction over these children. That Tribal Court issued orders granting custody to the maternal grandparents long ***before*** the purported *Decree of Adoption* was processed by the Nevada district court, and it has continued exercising its continuing, exclusive jurisdiction to issue orders relating to the subject minors.⁷⁰

⁶⁹ NRS 125A.315(b).

⁷⁰ Both the maternal grandparents and paternal grandmother (persons acting as parents to the subject minors) continue to reside in Arizona and subjected themselves to the jurisdiction of the Hualapai Tribal Court.

In any event, the entire premise of Justin’s brief – that somehow his surreptitious adoption proceeding “broke” the Tribal Court’s UCCJEA continuing exclusive jurisdiction – is false. Adoption proceedings are *not* UCCJEA proceedings.⁷¹

In sum, absolutely no information, let alone evidence, has ever been supplied by Justin to indicate that the Tribal Court somehow lost or relinquished its exclusive, continuing jurisdiction.⁷² Those Tribal Court Orders were presumptively valid,⁷³ were

⁷¹ NRS 125A.205. The history of why this is so is a bit tangential to this appeal, and pretty technical; for the convenience of the Court, we have attached as an Appendix the *Commentary on Adoption Jurisdiction Under the UCCJEA* written by Linda Elrod, of the Uniform Law Commission Joint Editorial Board of Uniform Family Law, with the assistance of Bob Spector, the Reporter for the UCCJEA. As detailed in that Report, the purported adoption obtained by Justin is probably invalid as having been obtained in violation of the federal Parental Kidnap Prevention Act (“PKPA”), 28 U.S.C. § 1738A, since the adoption was processed while a custody action was pending in another state (Arizona); see *In re Ramirez v. Barnet*, 384 P.3d 828 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2016), discussed *infra*. But the validity of Justin’s purported adoption is not squarely before this Court in this appeal.

⁷² His argument that the Tribal Court “impliedly” relinquished its jurisdiction is unabashedly frivolous; we are aware of no authority by which such a relinquishment can be “implied,” and Justin has cited none.

⁷³ NRS 47.250(10).

never shown or found to be otherwise, and were not “wrongfully registered” by the district court.

Even though Justin failed to timely contest the Tribal Court orders as required by statute, the district court still afforded him the opportunity to challenge them and ultimately found, consistent with this Court’s decision in Case No. 76831, that the Tribal Court never relinquished jurisdiction over child custody and still maintained exclusive continuing jurisdiction.

V. JUSTIN WAS PROPERLY NOTICED OF THE TRIBAL COURT PROCEEDINGS AND PAULA’S REGISTRATION

Justin makes a half-hearted attempt to claim that he was not “properly noticed” of the Tribal Court proceedings. His claim is simply untrue, as he was still represented by counsel at the time the registered orders were issued by the Tribal Court.

Justin's counsel has since claimed that he provided "notice" to the Tribal Court that he was no longer Justin's counsel of record in those proceedings by submitting a "letter" to the Tribal Court. However, no one ever filed a Notice of Withdrawal or Motion to Withdraw in the Tribal Court indicating that counsel wished to no longer represent Justin. Indeed, the documentation that he supplied to the district court demonstrates the exact opposite.⁷⁴ Specifically, in an e-mail to Justin dated May 9, 2019, David Sexton, Esq., of Alverson Taylor & Sanders (counsel for Justin) stated:

I am writing this email to inform you of the outcome of the hearing that Trevor and I attended on your behalf in the Hualapai Tribal Court on May 8, 2019. As we discussed on the phone, we attended the hearing and made a special appearance solely contesting the jurisdiction of the Hualapai Tribal Court regarding the 3rd Party Petition for Custody filed there by the maternal grandparents. We made our special appearance and presented our arguments related to the issue of jurisdiction. The Court rejected our arguments and made a finding that they do have jurisdiction

⁷⁴ See 1 RA 124-127; and 144.

in this matter. Although we have not received a written order signed by the judge, the judge made the following orders from the bench:

- Jeremiah and Kaydi must be turned over to their grandparents by Friday, May 10, 2019
- A full hearing related to the 3rd Party Petition for Custody was set for May 28, 2019 at 2:00 PM
- Justin must be at the hearing scheduled for May 28, 2019

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